
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: November 01, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 1 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The Workshop Meeting of the West Milford Township Council was called to order by Mayor Joseph 
DiDonato. 
 
Adequate Notice Statement 
Mayor DiDonato read the following statement: 
Please note that in accordance with Chapter 231, Public Laws of 1975 of New Jersey, adequate advance 
notice of this Regular meeting was advertised in the Herald News in its issues of December 26, 2005 and 
January 8, 2006; copies were provided to the Suburban Trends, the Record, Star Ledger, and Greenwood 
Lake News and posted continuously on the bulletin board in the main corridor of the Town Hall and on file in 
the Office of the Township Clerk. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Mayor DiDonato led all in attendance in a salute to the flag. 
 
Roll Call 
 
Present:  Councilmembers Philip Weisbecker, Joseph Smolinski, William Gervens,  

Robert Nolan, James Warden (arrived at 7:35 p.m.), Carmelo Scangarello. 
Mayor Joseph DiDonato. 

Absent:  None. 
Also Present:   Township Administrator Richard Kunze, Township Clerk Antoinette Battaglia,  

Township Attorney Frederick Semrau. 
 
Reading of or Approval of Unapproved Minutes 
 
Councilman Weisbecker moved to adopt the minutes of the October 4, 2006 Regular Meeting as presented. 
Moved:   Weisbecker   Seconded:  Gervens 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Abstained:  None. 
Motion carried. 
 
Councilman Nolan moved to adopt the minutes of the October 11, 2006 Executive Session Meeting as 
presented. 
Moved:   Nolan   Seconded:  Weisbecker 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Abstained:  None. 
Motion carried. 
 
Meetings 
 
Mayor DiDonato noted the future meeting schedule: 
 

November 8, 2006 Regular Meeting 
November 22, 2006 Workshop Meeting 
December 6, 2006 Regular Meeting 
December 13, 2006 Workshop Meeting 
December 27, 2006 Regular Meeting 

 
Council President Gervens stated that November 22nd is Thanksgiving eve and he asked if the Council would 
agree to combine the Workshop and Regular meeting on November 8th.  Councilman Nolan suggested changing 
the Workshop meeting to November 15th to which the Administrator advised that the NJSLOM conference is being 
held that week.  Mayor DiDonato polled the Council and determined that we will have a quorum on November 22nd.  

 
Proclamations 
 
None. 
 
Public Comments 
 
Mayor DiDonato opened the meeting to the public after advising that there is a five-minute limit for each 
speaker.  He invited interested parties to raise their hand and come forward when called upon.   
 
Ada Erik, Macopin Road, West Milford stated that she will be working in front of Town Hall again this Friday 
and advised that any interested volunteers may stop by to assist her in her efforts to improve the appearance 
of the front lawn.  She stated that she has been approached by a neighboring property owner who advised 

id37691437 pdfMachine by Broadgun Software  - a great PDF writer!  - a great PDF creator! - http://www.pdfmachine.com  http://www.broadgun.com 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: November 01, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 2 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
that, ever since the sidewalks were installed, her lawn has been used by pedestrians and has consequently 
become a well-beaten path.  This resident asked Ms. Erik to appeal on her behalf for the sidewalks to be 
extended and suggested that the Township use streetscape funds to make this happen.  The resident has 
concerns about liability should someone slip on her lawn.  In her opinion, as expressed by Ms. Erik, the 
problem was caused because of the installation of the sidewalks. 
 
James Geist, 57 Bayonne Drive, Hewitt provided Councilman Weisbecker with information about gangs, 
noting that discussion of this topic is on the agenda for tonight.  He works in a high school in Washington 
Heights, New York, where there will be a presentation about gangs on Monday night at 6:00 p.m.  He read 
an excerpt from �Republican Play Book� entitled �Letter from God� which excerpt pertained to negative 
campaign ads.  He stated that many of his election signs throughout town have been stolen or damaged. 
 
Dr. Sal Schimmenti, 72 Vreeland Road, West Milford stated that, throughout the past few weeks, he has 
learned that campaigning is not pleasant.  He read an excerpt from �The True Gentleman� noting that these 
words could help men act like gentlemen.   
 
Marilyn Schultz, West Milford stated that she is concerned about the decision to eliminate School Resource 
Officers in West Milford�s schools.  She stated that the DARE program has been reduced and the Board of 
Education has sent, or will be sending, a letter to the Council in the hopes of working out a suitable 
arrangement.  She commended the Police Chief for his concern about street crimes in West Milford and 
stated that, for our children, the school hallways are their streets when they are in school all day.  She would 
like to see the SROs return to the school and a full reinstatement of the DARE program.   
 
Doris Osterhoudt, Richmond Road, West Milford stated that all candidates for Council should realize that 
their constituents come from all areas in town and it is incumbent upon the candidates to learn about the 
resident�s needs.  To attain such knowledge, one must volunteer and serve this community.  Volunteerism 
serves the residents without incurring costs.  This year, she stated, two men who fit this criteria are running 
for office.  She listed the accomplishments and organizations served by Mr. Smolinski and Dr. Sal 
Schimmenti.  She stated that both of these men have served West Milford.  She also noted that 
Congressman Scott Garrett has recently brought two federal grants into this community. 
 
James Rauth, 7 Brown Court, West Milford commented that he supports having a School Resource Officer in 
West Milford schools.  He noted that it is important to address gang problems.  As a resident and state law 
enforcement officer, he stated that he will help in any way he can, regardless of the outcome of the upcoming 
election.   
 
Ray Johnson, Macopin Middle School Principal stated that having a School Resource Officer pays dividends 
to the schools, the Township, and the kids.  He commended the officers who have served in that capacity in 
the past and noted that prevention is difficult to measure.  Such prevention is brought to the school by virtue 
of the Resource Officers.  He stated that the school and the staff would like to see the program reinstated. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker moved to close the Public Comments portion of the meeting. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker   Seconded:  Scangarello 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Council Comments 
 
Mayor DiDonato stated that many of the subjects broached by the public tonight are items that are scheduled 
for discussion later in the evening.  The agenda, he stated, contains an Executive Session discussion of 
contract negotiations.  To that end, the Council is expecting labor counsel to attend tonight.  Therefore, when 
Mr. Knapp arrives, the Council will go into Executive Session.   
 
 
Presentations 
 
None. 
 
Action Items 
 
None. 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: November 01, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 3 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Payment of Bills 
 
None. 
 
Items For Discussion 
 
The Township Council discussed the following items: 
1)  School Resource Officers (SROs) � Mayor DiDonato invited Chief Paul Costello to the 

podium to discuss this subject with the Council.  Chief Costello directed the Council to the 
report he had submitted to them in their packets.  Mayor DiDonato, acknowledging the 
contractual obligations, questioned the Chief�s indication that it would take four officers to 
fill one position.  Chief Costello explained that the Police Department works on 12-hours 
shifts.  Therefore, he can only sign off on day shifts which would make it necessary to use 
four officers.  The Council asked if the Chief could request his officers to agree to a 
voluntary assignment in this position to negate the 12-hour shift.  Chief Costello answered 
in the affirmative but stated that it is necessary to assign the right person to such a 
position.  The officer assigned must be very dedicated and youth-oriented.  This is a very 
emotionally draining assignment which requires a lot of extra work.  New recruits should 
not be assigned as the nature of the work necessitates an experienced officer.  Currently 
the Township has four trained SROs; one is retiring in January and one is on medical 
leave.  Chief Costello emphasized that an SRO is not a security guard nor was the 
program ever intended to take patrol officers off the street.  Initially, this program was 
funded by grants, but in recent times those grant funds have not been forthcoming and 
resources are limited.  The officers assigned to the schools generally accumulate an 
excessive amount of overtime for extra curricular school activities.  Essentially, when 
school closes, they do not work because they have so much time.  Mayor DiDonato asked 
if a special officer could be trained as an SRO.  Chief Costello advised that this is not 
generally effective for a host of reasons.  The associated work is very draining.  The 
success of the program is based on the interaction between teachers, administrators, kids 
and the officer.  The SRO must be an integral part of the Police Department. Without 
having to pay overtime, he cannot guarantee that he can assign an officer to the school on 
a full-time basis.  The Council instructed the Administrator to schedule an Executive 
Session discussion with the Chief on this subject so that the Council can delve into the 
contractual limitations.  Mayor DiDonato thanked Chief Costello for attending tonight�s 
meeting.   

2)  Wanaque Valley Regional Sewerage Authority (WVRSA) � Councilman Scangarello 
recused himself from this discussion because the WVRSA deals with his employer and he 
left the room.  Mr. Semrau noted for the record that the Council has had previous 
discussions to determine whether or not the Township will continue as a member of the 
WVRSA.  Because West Milford is not a user of the WVRSA, the Township would not be 
responsible for WVRSA debt and that debt is not reflected on the Township�s rating.  
Councilman Weisbecker referred to an e-mail he received from Mr. Moshman wherein Mr. 
Moshman states that, if West Milford and Ringwood were to dissolve the WVRSA, upon 
dissolution we might be responsible for the $17 million liability.  The best option, he stated, 
is to maintain the status quo.  Council President Gervens stated that any dissolution would 
be conditional on West Milford not assuming debt.  He feels the Township should get out 
because we will never use it and there is too much potential for liability.  Councilman Nolan 
agreed and asked that an ordinance be drafted for a Council vote next week.  Councilman 
Smolinski expressed concern that those West Milford vendors who currently use the facility 
are not eligible to use other facilities in the area.  He stated that it is incumbent on the 
Council to know that those vendors have a place to dispose of waste.  Council President 
Gervens stated that some vendors currently go to Ramapo and that they will give us a 20-
30 year contract for less than we are paying now.  Mayor DiDonato stated that there is no 
upside to getting out of this noting that, in his opinion, the Township has invested a lot in 
this facility and would be giving up any rights to future use.  The Council instructed Mr. 
Semrau to draft an ordinance.   

 Councilman Scangarello returned to the meeting.   
3) Planning Board Expiration Times � Mr. Semrau noted that he sent the Council a letter on 

this subject.  He stated that it would be difficult to draft an ordinance limiting Planning 
Board approvals.  There is a New Jersey Supreme Court case which says that the MLUL 
provides for certain periods which must expire before the Township can set any time 
frames.  If the Council wishes to proceed, it involves the MLUL, requires feedback from the 
Planning Department, an ordinance could then be drafted, sent to the Planning Board for 
review and comment, and then the Council could take action.  Councilman Nolan asked if 
the proposed development at Valley Ridge could have progressed if such an ordinance 
were in place.  Mr. Semrau answered in the affirmative because such an ordinance would 
have clarified the Township�s position to the developer.  The Council instructed Mr. Semrau 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: November 01, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 4 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

to draft an ordinance for Council review.  Councilman Smolinski stressed that such 
legislation should not have any negative impact on the small homeowner.  Mr. Semrau 
assured the Council that the ordinance will pertain to major subdivisions only. 

 
Mayor DiDonato announced that Mr. Knapp, labor counsel, has arrived and that the Council will now go into 
Executive Session.  He read the following resolution into the record.   
 

~ Resolution No. 2006-373 ~ 
 

MOTION FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION  
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Township Council of the Township of West Milford on the 1st day of November, 
2006, that: 
 

1. Prior to the conclusion of this Workshop Meeting, the Township Council shall meet in Executive 
Session, from which the public shall be excluded, to discuss matters as permitted pursuant to 
N.J.S.A. 10:4-12, sub-section (s): 
(  )     b.  (1)   Confidential or excluded matters, by express provision of Federal law or 

State statute or rule of court. 
(  )     b.  (2)   A matter in which the release of information would impair a right to receive  
   funds from the Government of the United States. 

  (  )     b.  (3)   Material the disclosure of which constitutes an unwarranted invasion of  
     individual privacy. 

(X)     b.  (4)   A collective bargaining agreement including negotiations. 
 Update of Guild Negotiations 

 (  )     b.  (5)   Purchase, lease or acquisition of real property, setting of banking rates or 
   investment of public funds, where it could adversely affect the public  
   interest if disclosed. 
(  )     b.  (6) Tactics and techniques utilized in protecting the safety and property of the  
   public, if disclosure could impair such protection.  Investigation of  
   violations of the law. 
(  )     b.  (7)   Pending or anticipated litigation or contract negotiations other than in  
  subsection   b. (4) herein or matters falling within the attorney-client  
  privilege. 
(  )     b.  (8)   Personnel matters. 
(  )     b.  (9)   Deliberations after a public hearing that may result in penalties. 

 
2. The time when the matter(s) discussed pursuant to Paragraph 1 hereof can be disclosed to the 

public is as soon as practicable after final resolution of the aforesaid matter(s). 
 

Adopted:  November 1, 2006 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Nolan   Seconded:  Gervens 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Abstained:  None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
The Township Council reconvened in public at 9:00 p.m. with all present as before.   
 
Items For Discussion, continued 
 
The Township Council discussed the following items: 
4)  Pay to Play � Mr. Semrau explained the ordinance and advised that the intent of the local 

ordinance is to close a loophole in the state legislation.  Under the draft submitted to 
Council, all professional service agreements in West Milford would be affected.  Even 
though it is more restrictive than the state legislation, it is consistent with that legislation.  
All goods and services over $17,500 provided to the Township will be subject to this 
ordinance and the reporting requirements will be in accordance with those outlined in the 
state legislation.  The Council instructed the Attorney to proceed with this ordinance with a 
scheduled introduction at the next meeting.  They further instructed that open space 
purchases be specifically excluded. 

5)  Hillcrest � Administrator Kunze directed the Council to the repair estimates that were 
distributed in their packets and which were prepared by the Building Department, 
Engineering Department, and a number of professionals.  The estimated cost is $1.6 
million and an additional $500,000 for additional improvements which include resurfacing 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: November 01, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 5 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

the parking areas, sidewalks, drainage, guide rails, and a dumpster pad.  The estimate for 
a new building has a very wide range because the ultimate cost will be linked to the square 
footage and the proposed activities.  Essentially, a new facility of the same size would cost 
anywhere between $5.1 million and $8.2 million.  The Council expressed that any review or 
discussion is complicated because it is not clear whether the Township or the Board of 
Education (BOE) would ultimately own the building.  Councilman Nolan stated that the 
Township is mandated to contribute to the Library annually and the Library is generating a 
surplus every year.  He suggested that the Township speak with Library officials to 
determine if a partnership is feasible.  The BOE has proposed selling the Wallisch property 
to the Township and investing those funds into Hillcrest.  Councilman Nolan opined that, if 
the Township invests in this property, the Township should own it.  He further calculated 
that an $2 million investment would equate to $15-$30 per year for the average household 
for 20 years.  Councilman Warden recommended letting the Audubon Society have the 
Wallisch property and maintaining the status quo with the BOE.  He stated that the 
Township will never own Hillcrest because the BOE needs those classrooms.  The Council 
instructed the Administrator to share the details with the BOE and arrange a joint meeting 
to discuss this matter further.   

6) Municipal Clerk Resolution � Councilman Weisbecker explained that he is requesting that 
the Council consider a resolution which would transfer liability for failure to produce 
documents under OPRA from the Clerk to the department head who did not produce the 
documents.  Mr. Semrau expressed support for such action.  The resolution would request 
a change to current state legislation which would hold a department head responsible for 
failure to provide information requested under OPRA if the Clerk could show that he or she 
had made two attempts to obtain the requested information.  Councilman Nolan 
recommended waiting for new legislation to be drafted for Assembly consideration and 
adopt a resolution at that time.  The Council agreed. 

7) Gangs � Councilman Weisbecker stated that many municipalities have adopted resolutions 
requesting that the State move forward on bills to help prevent gangs and protect our 
youth.  The Council supported such a resolution.  Councilman Scangarello reminded the 
Council that there will be educational sessions on this subject at the upcoming League 
conference.  Councilman Weisbecker advised that he is awaiting information from the 
Police Chief, and noted that he will be asking for a joint meeting with the BOE so that 
Township officials can be proactive in preventing gang related issues in West Milford. 

8) Hospital Sick Tax � Councilman Weisbecker stated that the draft resolution is self-
explanatory and asked for Council support for such a resolution.  He stated that taxing 
hospital beds will have a negative impact on our society especially on sick children.  
Councilman Nolan stated that the sick tax was proposed in the Governor�s budget but did 
not gain support.  Subsequently it was pulled from the budget document making this a 
moot point. 

9) New Jersey Benefits Fund Bylaws � Administrator Kunze advised that the Township�s 
Health Insurance Fund (HIF) is proposing changed in their bylaws which require member 
approval.  Most of the changes are minor and govern their operations, bringing them up-to-
date with regulations.  Some changes restrict PERMA from having interest in other 
companies without disclosing such interest to the fund.  The Council instructed Mr. Semrau 
to review the changes.  If he determines that everything is satisfactory, he was instructed 
to draft a resolution for their consideration at the next meeting. 

10) Greenwood Lake Water Quality Grant � Administrator Kunze reported that he was advised 
last week that the Greenwood Lake Commission is planning to apply for a federal grant to 
improve water quality on both sides of the lake.  He reviewed the proposed projects in the 
grant application.  They are seeking a letter of support from the Council and the application 
is due on Friday.  The Township�s responsibility is minimal; West Milford would be 
responsible for the maintenance of the drainage structure.  Councilman Weisbecker 
questioned the ability to use public funds on a private lake and Mr. Kunze stated that Fred 
Lubnow has advised that, if this grant application was unsuccessful, the Township could 
apply for funds for other projects.  Council President Gervens expressed concern that we 
do not know any specifics about this grant application and it came to the Council�s attention 
at the eleventh hours.  Mr. Kunze stated that the grant monies would be used to reduce 
phosphorous in the lake.  Councilman Scangarello make a motion to authorize the 
Administrator to send a letter of support for this grant application. 

 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Scangarello   Seconded:  Gervens 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Abstained:  None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: November 01, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 6 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Mayor�s Report 
 
Mayor DiDonato stated that he and Councilmen Warden and Scangarello will meet in Town Hall tomorrow 
evening to re-interview candidates for the judge�s position.  He will report back to the Council.   
 
Township Administrator's Report 
 
None. 
 
Township Council Reports 
 
Councilman Weisbecker stated that, in the past, the Council had traveling meetings that drew a large crowd.  
He asked for Council consideration to schedule one Workshop meeting every month in a different location.  
Councilmen Warden, Nolan and Smolinski favored the idea.  Mayor DiDonato suggested discussing this 
further in the new year.  Councilman Weisbecker asked the Administrator about the status of telephone 
poles.  Mr. Kunze advised that it would cost $4,500 to have the poles installed and, if the Council wishes to 
proceed, we would have to budget for this installation in 2007.  Councilman Weisbecker asked the 
newspapers to promote people to get out to vote in the upcoming election. 
 
Councilman Smolinski encouraged everyone to come out to vote.  He said that people destroy campaign 
signs and he has had some of his signs stolen.     
 
Councilman Nolan asked that the Council discuss Valley Ridge in Executive Session at the next meeting. 
 
Councilman Warden stated that he spent the day traversing in the woods visiting MUA sites. 
 
Councilman Scangarello encouraged everyone to get out and vote. 
 
Township Attorney 
Mr. Semrau advised that he will have an update on Eagle Ridge next week and he is still wrapping up the 
Redevelopment Property encroachments.   
 
Adjournment 
 
There being no further business to come before the Council, the Township Council adjourned the meeting at 
10:08 p.m. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker                           Seconded:  Gervens 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Approved: December 6, 2006 

 
_________________________________ 

MAYOR JOSEPH DiDONATO 
PRESIDING OFFICER 

 
 

_________________________________ 
ANTOINETTE BATTAGLIA 

TOWNSHIP CLERK 


